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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KATHERINE N. PAYNE and
ARTHUR COATES, individually and on CIVIL ACTION
behalf of all others similarly situated ,
NO.
Plaintiffs,

V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

MARRIOTT EMPLOYEES FEDERAL
CREDIT UNION

Defendant.

COMPLAINT — CLASS ACTION

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiffs ~ Katherine N. Payne (“Payne”) and Arthur  Coates
(“Coates”)(collectively “Plaintiffs”) bring this class action against Defendant Marriott
Employees Federal Credit Union (“MEFCU” or “Defendant”) to obtain relief for themselves and
the classes they propose to represent for MEFCU’s unlawful lending practices in violation of the
Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §1601 er seq. (“TILA”).

2. TILA is Congress’s effort to guarantee the accurate and meaningful disclosure of
the costs of consumer credit and thereby to enable consumers to make informed choices in the
credit marketplace and avoid abusive lending. See, e.g., Cappuccio v. Prime Capital Funding
L.L.C, 649 F.3d 180 (3d Cir. 2011) (“Congress enacted TILA to guard against the danger of
unscrupulous lenders taking advantage of consumers through fraudulent or otherwise confusing
practices.”); Hauk v. JP Morgan Chase Bank USA, 552 F.3d 1114 (9th Cir. 2009) (“Congress

enacted TILA ‘to assure a meaningful disclosure of credit terms so that the consumer will be able
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to compare more readily the various credit terms available ... and avoid the uninformed use of
credit....””) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1601); Williams v. Chartwell Fin. Servs., Ltd., 204 F.3d 748 (7th
Cir. 2000) (“Congress enacted TILA to ensure that consumers receive accurate information from
creditors in a precise and uniform manner that allows them to compare the cost of credit.”);
Rodash v. AIB Mortgage Co., 16 F3d 1142 (11th Cir. 1994) (TILA intended to promote
informed use and awareness of cost of credit; ensure meaningful disclosure to enable ready
comparison of credit terms); First Nat’l Bank v. Office of the Comptroller, 956 F.2d 1456 (8th
Cir. 1992) (fundamental purpose of the Act is to require disclosure of true cost of credit so
consumers can make informed choice).

3. TILA was passed with the specific congressional finding:

The Congress finds that economic stabilization would be enhanced and the

competition among the various financial institutions and other firms engaged in

the extension of consumer credit would be strengthened by the informed use of

credit. The informed use of credit results from an awareness of the cost thereof by

consumers. It is the purpose of this subchapter to assure a meaningful disclosure

of credit terms so that the consumer will be able to compare more readily the

various credit terms available to him and avoid the uninformed use of credit, and

to protect the consumer against inaccurate and unfair credit billing and credit card

practices.

15 U.S.C.A. § 1601.

4. At issue in this litigation is MEFCU’s pattern and practices related to its mini-

Joan product extended to the Plaintiffs and fhe putative class merﬁbers within one year of the

filing of this action which did not clearly disclose the true costs of the product to the Plaintiffs
and class members as Congress required in TILA.

5. As a direct and proximate consequence of MEFCU’s inaccurate disclosures

violating TILA, Plaintiffs and the putative class members have sustained real harm and damages

from MFCFU’s mimi-loan product including:
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a. Uninformed use of credit, with respect to credit transactions.

b. Disguised the true costs of the product to consumers.

c. Because MEFCU’s mini-loan product is offered only to employees of the
MEFCU’s sponsor companies including Marriott International, Inc.
(“Marriott”) and is tied to the wages from Marriott, Plaintiffs and the putative
class members are dissuaded from exercising their fundamental rights to seek
employment opportunities greater than what is extended by Marriott during
the term of the loan because (i) wages controlled and paid by Marriott depend
on the number of hours it offers to offer them on a weekly basis and (ii) the
fees and conditions exacted upon them by MEFCU related to the product.

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§1640 (TILA) 28 U.S.C.A. §
1331 since certain of the claims asserted herein arise under the laws of the United States.

7. Venue is appropriate in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 1391 because a
substantial portion of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims before the Court occurred
in this District.

III. PARTIES

8. Katherine Payne (“Payne” or “Plaintiff”) is a natural person, who resides at 6543
N. 17" Street, Philadelphia, PA 19126. Payne is a “consumer” as that term is defined in 15
U.S.C.A. § 1602(i). The loans she obtained were primarily for personal, family or household
purposes.

9. Arthur Coates (“Coates” or “Plaintiff”) is a natural person, who resides at 4923 N.

g Street, Philadelphia, PA. Coates is a “consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C.A. $
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1602(i). The loans he obtained were primarily for personal, family or household purposes.

10. Defendant Marriott Employees Federal Credit Union (“MEFCU” or
“Defendant”) is a federal credit union that is regulated by the National Credit Union
Administration (“NCUA”).

11.  Enacted durihg the depths of the Great Depression, the Federal Credit Union Act
enabled credit unions, like MEFCU, to be organized throughout the United States under charters
approved by the federal government. Congress intended to make credit available to more
Americans and promote thrift through a national system of nonprofit, cooperative credit unions.

12. MEFCU is a “creditor” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C.A. § 1602(g).

13. MEFCU’s Chief Executive Officer is James G. Newton. MEFCU’s corporate
offices are located at 10400 Fernwood Road, Suite LL117, Bethesda, MD 20817-1102 but as
discussed infra it markets its products and services indirectly through Marriott and its other
partners in this District.

14, Not named as a party to this action is Marriott which sponsors MEFCU and
effectively controls MEFCU’s operations through Marriott executives who serve as the
controlling members of the MEFCU’s board of directors. As discussed infra, Marriott’s
corporate employees also assist in arranging the extension of the mini-loan product to the
putative class members which is marketed to the putative class members through Marriott’s local
human resource departments located in the District.

15. Not named as a party to this action, the Philadelphia Marriott Downtown has a
business relationship with Marriott in which Marriott manages the location and markets
MEFCU’s products to the hotel employees who are also employed by Marriott.

IV. FACTS
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A. Background About MEFCU & the Mini-Loan Product

16. According to public data available from NCUA on September 15, 2018, MEFCU
has assets valued at the approximate sum of $192,258.979 and it has approximately 32,584
members nationwide. In this District MEFCU has more than 500 members.

17. MEFCU offers to its members a mini-loan product through Marriott’s local
human resources offices in this District.

18. In order to be eligible for the mini-loan product, MEFCU members: (i) must be a
in good standing; (ii) must agree to a direct deposit of a minimum of $33 weekly from their
wages to their MEFCU account before the extension of the mini-loan; (111) must not be in
bankruptcy and (iv) have no other mini-loan from MEFCU that has not been satisfied.

19. As a further condition of the mini-loan product, MEFCU requires the borrower to
also authorize MEFCU to obtain payroll deductions from the MEFCU members’ Marriott wages
including the sum of $10 per week plus the loan payment amount. However, the $10 per week
amount is frozen by MEFCU so the mini-loan borrower may not use that amount effectively acts
as cash security for the loan. In addition, requires mini-loan borrowers to pledge and grant
MEFCU a security interest in their share account(s) with MEFCU as further collateral for
receiving the loan.

20.  The mini-loan is advertised outside of the Philadelphia Marriott Downtown’s
human resources department and by the human resource employees, and the MEFCU provides
the loan to all employees who join the MEFCU without (1) running any credit check or obtaining

a credit reports, (2) performing any credit investigation, and (3) obtaining any appraisals.
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21. MEFCU simply communicates to Marriott that the agreed upon sums shall be

deducted from the consumer’s payroll deductions. Upon information belief all such

communications are done electronically and the actual costs incurred are de minimis.

22.  Despite the fact that MEFCU incurs no material costs for receipt of an a mini-loan
application and performs no legitimate investigation into a consumer’s credit history and

creditworthiness which a customary creditor would conduct, MEFCU charges to all MEFCU

employee borrowers $35 for what it labels an “application fee” for each mini-loan application:

a. Even when the borrowers have previously applied for a mini-loan with

MEFCU or paid off multiple prior mini-loans to MEFCU; and

b. Even though the fee is only collected from those consumer applicants from

who MEFCU actually extends the loan since the fee is deducted as a matter of

pattern and practice from the loan proceeds itself.

23.  According to public records available from the December 2017 Call Reports that

are filed with the NCUA, MEFCU’s effective income from fees as a percentage of sums loaned

to borrowers is excessively high when compared to other credit unions:

FEES CHARGED FOR EVERY $100 LOANED

Marriott Employees FCU $11
Philadelphia FCU $4
Philadelphia Police and Fire FCU $2
American Heritage FCU $2
Penn State FCU $2
Campbell Employees FCU $2
Navy Federal FCU $1




Case 2:18-cv-04009-WB Document 1 Filed 09/18/18 Page 10 of 25

24, MEFCU markets its mini-loan product to lower income Marriott employees who
perform the day-to-day, hourly work of running Marriott’s hotels and who live paycheck to
paycheck. Recent studies have concluded that irregular scheduling by employers is a nationwide
problem that creates extreme economic uncertainty for tens of millions of American workers and
has a disproportionate impact on women and people of color. Center for Popular Democracy,
Women in Today’s Workforce, May 2015, available at

http://populardemocracy.org/sites/default/files/HourbyHour final.pdf.

25. Since the hours offered by Marriott to these hourly employees is controlled by
Marriott, when those hours are reduced, the employees look to products like MEFCU’s mini-
loan to help cover basic essential for their personal, family and household needs. However, the
true costs and terms of the mini-loan are not disclosed accurately nor are they clearly and
conspicuously disclosed to the mini-loan borrower in a manner required under TILA. The
borrower is not provided the true costs and terms of the loan.

26.  Thus, while the mini-loan may appear to be a free-standing financial product, it is
part-and-parcel of the unequal bargaining relationship between the Marriott and its employees.
By providing employees with quick cash when needed and indebting them to their employer, the
mini-loan allows the Marriott to retain its workforce even while subjecting workers to unfair and
unpredictable scheduling practices.

27.  The mini-loan gives employees quick access to $500.00 that they can use to pay
off living expenses that are unaffordable when hours are reduced. In exchange, employees agree
to make automatic payments out of their MEFCU account of (1) a $35.00 “application fee”, (2)
the sum of $90.00 per month for five months, and (3) a final payment of $79.23, for a total of

$564.23. This amount does not include a $250.00 required cash security deposit that accumulates
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through $10.00 weekly deductions from the mini-loan borrowers’ wages that is held in a
MEFCU share savings account but frozen and inaccessible to borrower, during the loan payment
period.

28.  Most Marriott employees of the Downtown Marriott Philadelphia who have
utilized the MEFCU mini-loan say that they have constantly and repeatedly taken out mini-loans
throughout their entire employment to be able to afford living expenses and the “application fee”
has only been charged to them when their mini-loans were approved. Further, these employees
also report their credit has never been pulled by MEFCU and no one from MEFCU has ever
contacted them to investigate any parts of their application.

29.  As a non-profit credit union, MEFCU is supposed to serve all members on equal
terms. The mini-loans, however, create effectively no risk for the MEFCU but create real
burdens for those members who need the product as compared to other loan products for higher
income borrowers. By extracting payments out of wages, taking cash security, and effectively
tying mini-loan borrowers to continued employment to Marriott to pay the loan, MEFCU is able
to effectively eliminate the possibility of default and thereby render the mini-loan product highly
profitable.

30. It should also be noted that MEFCU is not permitted to charge interest of more
than 18% APR on any loan. Nat'l Credit Union Admin., Board Action Bulletin, Board Meeting

Results for Feb. 23, 2017, available at https://www.ncua.gov/newsroom/Pages/news-2017-board-

extends-18-percent-interest-rate-cap.aspx.

31. It has been reported that some credit unions evade the cap by charging excessive
“application fees.” Nat’l Consumer L. Ctr., Stopping the Payday Loan Trap, June 2010, at p. 28,

available  at https://www.nclc.org/images/pdf/high_cost_small_loans/payday._loans/report-
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stopping-payday-trap.pdf (“Kinecta Federal Credit Union offers payday loans, marketed through
its Nix Check Cashing subsidiary. Despite the fact that federal law subjects Kinecta, as a federal
credit union, to an 18% annual interest usury cap, the credit union evades that limit by charging a
$39.95 application fee for each of its standard $400 14-day loans on top of 15% annual
interest.”).

32.  Based on a review of multiple mini-loan transactions, MEFCU appears to be
evading the interest rate cap by charging the fictitious $35.00 “application fee” with its mini-loan
product. While MEFCU’s mini-loan credit agreement does disclose an 18% APR, based on a
finance charge of $29.23 for the six-month loan, the Plaintiffs and putative class members must
also pay the additional $35.00 application fee that is not included in that finance charge and
provide cash security. Including the “application fee” as part of the finance charge would give
rise to an APR of about 46% on each transaction.

33.  Finally, it should be noted that the MEFCU mini-loan is not a payday alternative
loan (“PAL”) that has been authorized by NCUA since 2010 but is similar in nature. Of import
to the facts and issues before the Court is that NCUA capped the application fee limit for PAL
loans to the maximum application fee of $20 because the NCUA Board “believe[d] a maximum
application fee of $20 is sufficient to allow FCUs to recoup the costs associated with processing
an application for a [PAL] loan.” Short-Term, Small Amount Loans, 75 FR 58285-01 at *58287.
This agency conclusion leads to the presumption that the $35 so-called application fee assessed
by MEFCU is not reasonable and far exceeds MEFCU’s true costs (if it even has any legitimate
application costs) related to the mini-loan since the PAL loans are far riskier and have no secured

interest in the borrower’s accounts as a condition of the PAL loan.
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34.

About the TILA Class Claims Before the Court

The Third Circuit has explained:

Through TILA, Congress sought to remedy the “divergent and often
fraudulent practices by which credit customers were apprised of the terms
of the credit extended to them.” Johnson v. McCrackin-Sturman Ford,
Inc., 527 F.2d 257, 262 (3d Cir.1975). Indeed, the congressionally stated
purpose of TILA is “to assure a meaningful disclosure of credit terms so
that the consumer will be able to compare more readily the various credit
terms available to him.” 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a). TILA, as a remedial statute
which is designed to balance the scales “thought to be weighed in favor of
lenders,” is to be liberally construed in favor of borrowers. Bizier v. Globe
Financial Services, 654 F.2d 1, 3 (1st Cir.1981). See Johnson, 527 F.2d at
262.

TILA achieves its remedial goals by a system of strict liability in favor of
the consumers when mandated disclosures have not been made. 15 U.S.C.
§ 1640(a). A creditor who fails to comply with TILA in any respect is
liable to the consumer under the statute regardless of the nature of the
violation or the creditor's intent. Thomka v. A.Z. Chevrolet Inc., 619 F.2d
246, 249-50 (3d Cir.1980). “[O]nce the court finds a violation, no matter
how technical, it has no discretion with respect to liability.” Grant v.
Imperial Motors, 539 F.2d 506, 510 (5th Cir.1976).

A single violation of TILA gives rise to full liability for statutory
damages.

Smith v. Fid. Consumer Disc. Co., 898 F.2d 896, 898 (3d Cir. 1990)

35.

Congress has also specifically authorized class actions pursuant to TILA. 15
U.S.C. § 1640(a). See also 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(2)(b), as amended by Pub. L. No. 111-203, §
1416(a)(2), 124 Stat. 1376 (July 21, 2010)(increasing “the total recovery [for statutory damages
under TILA] in any class action or series of class actions arising out of the same failure to
comply by the same creditor shall not be more than the lesser of $1,000,000 or 1 per centum of
the net worth of the creditor”). In fact many TILA violations are unusually well-suited to class
action treatment. Violations like those before the Court in this action are often apparent on the

face of the written documents and the creditor’s standard practice and procedures, which is true

- 10-
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here because the application fee is set forth on the mini-loan documents and MEFCU treats the
mini-loans the same way.

36. A creditor’s disclosed interest rate can be a misleading price tag for credit to a
consumer because (1) an interest rate can be calculated in a variety of ways, each extracting a
different dollar amount from the consumer; (2) a creditor might not include all charges incident
to a credit transaction are reflected in that interest rate.

37. To make sure consumers were given clear, unambiguous disclosure of the true
cost of their credit, Congress’ approach under TILA was to design a price tag that reflected a
standardized definition of the cost of credit for both interest rate and fees.

38.  Further, to help create this standardized definition, Congress has given certain
agencies over the course of time the authority to establish certain requirements in Regulation Z
to TILA to carry out its requirements. Relevant to this action and to the misleading disclosure
issue before the Court are the following requirements:

a. A creditor may not fail to include in the finance charge certain charges imposed
by it that is payable by the consumer incident to the extension of credit as
required by 15 U.S.C. § 1605 and Regulation Z § 1026.4. If the creditor does fail
to include such a charge it improperly discloses the finance charge in violation of
15U.S.C. § 1638(a)(3) and Regulation Z § 1026.18(d).

b. By calculating the annual percentage rate (APR) based upon improperly
calculated and disclosed finance charges and amount financed, 15 U.S.C. § 1606,
Regulation Z § 1026.22, a creditor would also unlawfully understate the disclosed
annual percentage rate in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(4) and Regulation Z §

1026.18(e).
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39. Regulation Z defines the term “finance charge” as “the cost of consumer credit,”
12 CFR § 226.4 (2004).

40. To be accurate, the disclosed finance charge must reflect: (1) The inclusion of all
types of charges that TILA defines as part of the finance charge for that particular transaction,
i.e., proper allocation of charges between the amount financed and the finance charge; and (ii)
Proper computation of each component charge of the total finance charge, and proper disclosure
of the resulting total charge.

41.  In general, creditors are not required to include any “application fees” as part of
the finance charge. Under Regulation Z, the “finance charge” excludes “[a]pplication fees
charged to all applicants for credit, whether or not credit is actually extended.” 12 C.F.R. §
226.4. However, to qualify as a qualified “application fee,” and thus be excluded from the
finance charge used to calculate the APR, the charge must be a genuine application fee designed
to allow creditors to recoup the reasonable costs of processing applications. The Official
Interpretation from the FRB explains:

An application fee that is excluded from the finance charge is a charge to recover

the costs associated with processing applications for credit. The fee may cover the

costs of services such as credit reports, credit investigations, and appraisals. The

creditor is free to impose the fee in only certain of its loan programs, such as

mortgage loans. However, if the fee is to be excluded from the finance charge

under § 1026.4(c)(1), it must be charged to all applicants, not just to applicants

who are approved or who actually receive credit. _

12 C.F.R. Part 226, Supplement I (Official Staff Interpretations), § 226.4, | 4(c)(1), Comment 1.'

42.  If the creditor does not incur application costs or charges sums in excess of the

actual reasonable costs, the purported application fee is not properly excluded from the finance

charge.

: Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 564 (1980) (Federal Reserve Board
Staff Opinions construing the Act should be dispositive unless “demonstrably irrational”).
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C. Named Plaintiffs’ Allegations

43.  Payne has worked as an hourly housekeeper at the Philadelphia Marriott
Downtown for approximately eight (8) years and has been a member of the MEFCU for about
the same amount of time. MEFCU membership was promoted to her as an employee benefit
when she was hired by the hotel.

44.  Payne’s assigned hours are controlled by Marriott and fluctuate so that she cannot
forecast her earnings on a regular basis.

45.  In the last eight years, including last September 19, 2017, Payne has utilized
MEFCU’s mini-loan product to help her pay for her personal, family household expenses—
especially when her income has dropped as a result of reduced working hours offered by
Marriott.

46.  On or about September 15, 2017 Payne last applied for a mini-loan from MEFCU
and it took the “application fee” from her account at MEFCU. As had been her experience in the
past, MEFCU did not perform any credit check or investigation of her application, did not make
any inquiries of her related to the application, and did not conduct any appraisal of her property
related to the mini-loan application. It simply required her to grant it a secured interest in her
share accounts and wages as discussed supra.

47.  On September 19, 2017, without having actually performed any bona fide
investigation of her application, MEFCU advanced the mini-loan sum to Payne and she was
thereafter obligated as discussed supra to repay the loan. Her first payment was then due on or

before October 28, 2017.
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48. Commencing on or about October 2, 2017, MEFCU began withdrawing $10 from
Payne’s wages on a weekly basis as cash security for Payne’s September 19, 2017 MEFCU mini-
loan.

49.  Payne’s September 19, 2017 MEFCU’s mini-loan credit agreement disclosed an
18% APR, based on a finance charge of $29.23 for the six-month loan. However, Payne was
also required to pay $35.00 for an “application fee” that was not related to any bona fide
application service and did not represent any reasonable sum of application expenses MEFCU
actually incurred as a result of the transaction. MEFCU excluded the $35 charge from the finance
charge.

50. As aresult of MEFCU’s exclusion of the $35 charge from the finance charge, the
APR disclosure to Payne was understated. The true APR for her September 19, 2017 mini-loan
was actually 46% and not the 18% disclosed by MEFCU. MEFCU’s violations of TILA include:

a. failing to properly disclose the finance charge when it chose to exclude the
“application fee” that was incident to the extension of credit by MEFCU to
Payne (as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1605, § 1638(a)(3) and Regulation Z §
1026.4),

b. failing to properly disclose the amount financed for the loan because it
improperly included the “application fee” in the amount financed. (in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(2) and Regulation Z § 1026.18(b)) and;

c. failing to disclose the APR (in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(4) and
Regulation Z § 1026.18(e)).

51. In addition, by calculating the APR based upon improperly calculated and

disclosed finance charges and amount financed (15 U.S.C. § 1606, Regulation Z § 1026.22), the
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APR disclosed by MEFCU to Payne was understated (in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(4) and
Regulation Z § 1026.18(e)).

52. The TILA disclosure MEFCU also provided to Payne violated 12 CFR. §
1026.18(m) by failing to disclose to Payne that MEFCU would acquire a security interest in
Payne’s other property including her share accounts, sums in the share accounts, and portions of
her future wages.

53. Coates has worked as an hourly employee at the Philadelphia Marriott
Downtown for approximately 15 years and has been a member of the MEFCU about the same
amount of time. MEFCU membership was promoted to him as an employee benefit when he
was hired by the hotel.

54. Coates’ assigned hours are controlled by Marriott and fluctuate so that he cannot
forecast his earnings on a regular basis.

55.  In the last 14 years, including last July 16, 2018, Coates has utilized MEFCU’s
mini-loan product to help him pay for her personal, family household expenses—especially
when his income has dropped as a result of reduced working hours offered by Marriott.

56.  On or about July 9, 2018 Coates last applied for a mini-loan from MEFCU and it
took the “application fee” from his account at MEFCU. As had been his experience in the past,
MEFCU did not perform any credit check or investigation of his application, did not make any
inquiries of him related to the application, and did not conduct any appraisal of his property
related to the mini-loan application. It simply required him to grant it a secured interest in his
share accounts and wages as discussed supra.

57. On or before July 16, 2018, without having actually performed any bona fide

investigation of his application, MEFCU advanced the mini-loan sum to Coates and he was
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thereafter obligated as discussed supra to repay the loan. His first payment was then due on or
before August 20, 2018.

58.  Commencing on or about July 11, 2018, MEFCU began withdrawing $10 from
Coates’ wages on a weekly basis as cash security for Coates’ July 16, 2018 MEFCU mini-loan.

59. Coates’ July 11, 2018 MEFCU’s mini-loan credit agreement disclosed an 18%
APR, based on a finance charge of $29.23 for the six-month loan. However, Coates was also
required to pay a $35.00 for an “application fee” that was not related to any bona fide application
service and did not represent any reasonable sum of application expenses MEFCU actually
incurred as a result of the transaction. MEFCU excluded the $35 charge from the finance charge.

60.  As aresult of MEFCU’s exclusion of the $35 charge from the finance charge, the
APR disclosure to Coates was understated. The true APR for his July 16, 2018 mini-loan was
actually 46% not the 18% disclosed by MEFCU. MEFCU’s violations of TILA include:

a. failing to properly disclose the finance charge when it chose to exclude the
“application fee” that was incident to the extension of credit by MEFCU to
Payne (as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1605, § 1638(a)(3) and Regulation Z §
1026.4);

b. failing to properly disclose the amount financed for the loan because it
improperly included the “application fee” in the amount financed. (in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(2) and Regulation Z § 1026.18(b)) and;

c. failing to disclose the APR (in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(4) and
Regulation Z § 1026.18(e)).

61. In addition, by calculating the APR based upon improperly calculated and

disclosed finance charges and amount financed (15 U.S.C. § 1606, Regulation Z § 1026.22), the
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APR disclosed by MEFCU to Coates was understated (in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(4) and
Regulation Z § 1026.18(e)).

62. The TILA disclosure MEFCU also provided to Coates violated 12 C.FR. §
1026.18(m) by failing to disclose to Coates that MEFCU would acquire a security interest in
Coates’ other property including his share accounts, sums in the share accounts, and portions of
his future wages.

IV. Class Action Allegations

63. This action is brought as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ.P. 23(a) and 23(b).
64. The Class is defined as follows

All persons in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania who (i) borrowed money from
MEFCU in the one-year before the commencement of this action through its mini-

loan product and (ii) were given a Federal Truth in Lending Disclosure Statement

which incorrectly set forth the APR to be charged on the loan or did not disclose
that MEFCU would acquire a security interest in the person’s other property.

65.  The members of the Class are capable of being identified without difficult
managerial or administrative problems. MEFCU maintains electronic records that track
information about borrowers, their loans, and any correspondence sent to borrowers to enable it
to identify particular categories of borrowers from its electronic systems.

66.  The Class members are sufficiently numerous that individual joinder of all
members is impractical. Based upon the public data available about MEFCU and the sheer
numbers of lower income, hourly employees in Pennsylvania who are employed by MEFCU,
and based upon information ad belief, the Class exceeds more than 100 persons.

67. There are questions of law and fact common to the Class which predominate over
any questions affecting only individual members of the Class and, in fact, the wrongs alleged

against MEFCU by the Class members and the remedies sought by Class members against
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MEFCU are identical, the only potential difference being the exact sum borrowed through the

MEFCU mini-loan product.

68.  The common issues related to the Class members include, but are certainly not
limited to:

a. Does MEFCU incur any expenses or costs related the application fee?

b. Does MEFCU actually charge the mini-loan applicants who are denied the mini-

loan the $35 application fee?

C. Do MEFCU’s actual, reasonable costs related to the receipt of a mini-loan
application equal $35 or a materially smaller sum?

d. Did MEFCU properly disclose that it was obtaining a security interest on the

other property of the borrowers?

e. Did MEFCU’s conduct in loaning money through its mini-loan product violate
TILA?
69. Plaintiff’s legal and equitable claims are typical and the same or identical for

each of the member of the Class and will be based on the same legal and factual theories
identified supra.

70.  MEFCU’s defenses (which defenses are denied) would be typical and the same or
identical for each of the member of the Class and will be based on the same legal and factual
theories.

71.  The Plaintiffs will also fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of
the Class members. Plaintiffs have retained counsel experienced in consumer class actions

including actions involving unlawful collection and lending practices. Plaintiffs do not have any
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interests which might cause them not to vigorously prosecute this action or are otherwise adverse
to the interests of the members of the Class.

72. Certification of the Class under Fed. R. Civ.P. 23(a) and 23(b) for the injunctive
and declaratory relief sought and for the damages claims in that common questions predominate
over any individual questions and a class action is superior for the fair and efficient adjudication
of this controversy. A class action will cause an orderly and expeditious administration of claims
by the Class members, and economies of time, effort and expenses will be fostered and
uniformity of decisions will be insured.

73.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the Class members.

74.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of all Class members in
the prosecution of this action. The Plaintiffs are similarly situated with, and have suffered similar
injuries as, the members of the Class they seek to represent. The Plaintiffs (i) feel that they have
been wronged, (ii) wish to obtain redress of the wrong, and (iii) want Defendant stopped from
imposing and collecting unreasonable fees and providing incorrect disclosures and otherwise
stopped from perpetrating similar wrongs on others.

75. The Class members have suffered damages, losses, and harm similar those
sustained by the Plaintiffs and described above.

. V. CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I-TILA — CLASS CLAIM

76.  Plaintiffs incorporate all prior paragraphs herein.
77. Plaintiffs’ and the Class member’s MEFCU mini-loans were consumer credit

transactions, and were subject to the disclosure requirements of the Truth in Lending Act, 15
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US.C. § 1601, et seq., and all related regulations, commentary, and interpretive guidance
promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board.

78.  MEFCU is a “creditor” as defined by TILA because it was named as the lender in
each of the Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ mini-loan documents and it retained all rights to the
sums collected from them during the term of the transactions.

79. MEFCU’s mini-loan credit agreements with the Plaintiffs and the Class members
disclosed an 18% APR, based on a finance charge of $29.23 for the six-month loan. However,
the Plaintiffs and the Class members were also required to pay an additional $35.00 “application
fee” that was not included in that finance charge but should have been because it was not related
to any bona fide application service, and did not represent any reasonable sum of application
expenses MEFCU actually incurred as a result of the transaction.

80.  As a result MEFCU’s APR disclosure to Plaintiffs and the Class members
understated the actual APR for their mini-loans. The true APR was about 46%; not the 18%
APR disclosed.

81.  As a result, MEFCU violated TILA by: (i) failing to accurately disclose the
finance charge (as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1605, § 1638(a)(3) and Regulation Z § 1026.4); (ii)
failing to properly disclose the amount financed (in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(2) and
Regulation Z § 1026.18(b)) and (iii) by failing to disclose the true APR (in violation of 15 U.S.C.
§ 1638(a)(4) and Regulation Z § 1026.18(e)).

82.  In addition MEFCU’s disclosure statements to the Plaintiffs and the putative class
members also violated 12 CF.R. § 1026.18(m) by failing to disclose to Plaintiffs and the
putative class members that MEFCU would acquire a security interest in their other property

including their share accounts, sums in the share accounts, and portions of his future wages.
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83. Plaintiffs and the Class members have been injured and have suffered monetary
losses arising from MEFCU’s violations of the TILA. These losses include the assessment of an
unreasonable application fee for which no reasonable costs were actually incurred by MEFCU or
the reasonable costs fees actually incurred by MEFCU actually are materially less than the sums
collected by MEFCU from the Plaintiffs and the Class members. In addition, the Plaintiffs and
the Class members are damaged as a result of not receiving a true cost of the mini-loan product
as required by TILA so that they could make an informed decision about the transaction.
Finally, as a result Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to statutory damages pursuant to
TILA.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs demand trial by jury on their claims and on behalf of the Class members.

PRAYER FOR DAMAGES

Plaintiffs respectfully pray that judgment be entered against the Defendant for the
following:
A. For Named Plaintiffs against the Defendant:

1. Certify this case as a class action with the Plaintiffs as class representative and
their attorneys as class counsel on behalf of the Class members described
herein;

2. Grant a money judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs and the Class members for
violations of TILA, as described herein, in such damage amount as to be
determined at trial and for purposes of a sum certain directly related to the
improper assessment of unreasonable application fees in far excess of what

was permitted and actually reasonably incurred, subject to further discovery as
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to the size of the class, the amount sought on behalf of the class is in excess of
$75,000.00;

3. Grant a further money judgment for statutory damages to the Plaintiffs and the
Class members equal to $1,000,000.00 or 1% of Defendants’ net worth, as

provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1)-(2);

4. Award reasonable attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs pursuant to 15

U.S.C. § 1640(a)(3);

Dated: September 18, 2018 ////W%Zé@k/
Robert P. Cocco, P.C.
Attorney for Plaintiff
By: Robert P. Cocco, Esquire
Pa. Id. No. 61907
1500 Walnut Street, Suite 900
Philadelphia, PA 19102
(215) 351-0200
rcocco(@ren.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs
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